

Exhibit 2

(Blackline of Proposed Plan – Excluding Exhibits)

**THIS IS NOT A SOLICITATION OF ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF
THE PLAN. ACCEPTANCES OR REJECTIONS MAY NOT BE SOLICITED
UNTIL A DISCLOSURE STATEMENT HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE
BANKRUPTCY COURT.**

**IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
FORT WORTH DIVISION**

In re

PILGRIM'S PRIDE CORPORATION, *et al.*,

Debtors.

§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

Chapter 11

Case No. 08-45664 (DML)

JOINTLY ADMINISTERED

**DEBTORS' AMENDED JOINT PLAN OF REORGANIZATION
UNDER CHAPTER 11 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE**

WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES LLP

200 Crescent Court, Suite 300
Dallas, Texas 75201
(214) 746-7700

767 Fifth Avenue
New York, New York 10153
(212) 310-8000

Attorneys for Debtors and
Debtors in Possession

Dated: ~~September 17,~~October 19, 2009

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
A. Definitions	1
1.1. 7 5/8% Indenture.....	1
1.2. 7 5/8% Indenture Trustee.....	1
1.3. 8 3/8% Indenture.....	1
1.4. 8 3/8% Indenture Trustee.....	2
1.5. 9 1/4% Indenture.....	2
1.6. 9 1/4% Indenture Trustee.....	2
1.7. Administrative Expense Claims Bar Date	2
1.8. Administrative Expense Claims Objection Deadline.....	2
1.9. Administrative Expense Claim	2
1.10. ADR Procedures Order	2
1.11. Affiliate.....	2
1.12. Allowed	2
1.13. Avoidance Actions.....	3
1.14. BMO	3
1.15. BMO Guarantee Agreement	3
1.16. BMO Secured Claim	3
1.17. Bankruptcy Code	3
1.18. Bankruptcy Court	3
1.19. Bankruptcy Rules	3
1.20. Business Day	3
1.21. Cash	3
1.22. Chapter 11 Cases	3
1.23. Charging Lien	3
1.24. Chief Restructuring Officer	3
1.25. Claim.....	3
1.26. Claims Agent	4
1.27. Class	4
1.28. CoBank	4
1.29. CoBank Guarantee Agreement	4

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

	Page
1.30. CoBank Secured Claim	4
1.31. Collateral	4
1.32. Commencement Date	4
1.33. Committees	4
1.34. Compensation and Benefit Programs.....	4
1.35. Compensation-Related Obligation.....	4
1.36. Confirmation Date	5
1.37. Confirmation Hearing	5
1.38. Confirmation Order	5
1.39. Contingent Claim	5
1.40. Covered Professionals.....	5
1.41. Creditors' Committee	5
1.42. Debtors	5
1.43. Debtors in Possession	5
1.44. DIP Claims	5
1.45. DIP Credit Agreement	5
1.46. DIP Financing Order	5
1.47. DIP Lenders	5
1.48. Disallowed Claim	5
1.49. Disbursing Agent	5
1.50. Disclosure Statement	6
1.51. Disputed Claim	6
1.52. Distribution Record Date	6
1.53. Effective Date	6
1.54. Entity	6
1.55. Equity Committee.....	6
1.56. Equity Interest	6
1.57. Exit Facility	6
1.58. Exit Facility Agent.....	6
1.59. Exit Facility Documents	6
1.60. Exit Financing.....	7

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

	Page
1.61. Exit Lenders.....	7
1.62. Fee Review Committee.....	7
1.63. Final Order	7
1.64. Flow-Through Claim	7
1.65. General Unsecured Claim	7
1.66. <u>Governmental Unit</u>	<u>7</u>
<u>1.67.</u> Guarantee Agreements.....	7
1.67. <u>1.68.</u>	Indenture Trustees 7
1.68. <u>1.69.</u>	Indenture Trustee Fee Claim 7
1.69. <u>1.70.</u> Indentures	7 <u>8</u>
1.70. <u>1.71.</u> Intercompany Claim.....	8
1.71. <u>1.72.</u>	Lien 8
1.72. <u>1.73.</u> LTIP	8
1.73. <u>1.74.</u> Mandatory Exchange Transaction	8
1.74. <u>1.75.</u>	New Employee Incentive Plans 8
1.75. <u>1.76.</u>	New PPC Common Stock 8
1.76. <u>1.77.</u>	Note Claims 8
1.77. <u>1.78.</u>	Notes 8
1.78. <u>1.79.</u>	Ordinary Course Customer Obligation 8
1.79. <u>1.80.</u>	Other Secured Claim 8
1.80. <u>1.81.</u>	Pilgrim's Pride 8
1.81. <u>1.82.</u>	Plan 8
1.82. <u>1.83.</u>	Plan Sponsor 8
1.83. <u>1.84.</u>	Plan Supplement 8
1.84. <u>1.85.</u> PPC	8
1.85. <u>1.86.</u> PPC Common Stock	8
1.86. — Prepetition BMO Credit Agreement	8
1.87. <u>Prepetition BMO Credit Agreement</u>	<u>9</u>
<u>1.88.</u> Prepetition CoBank Credit Agreement	9
1.88. <u>1.89.</u>	Priority Non-Tax Claim 9
1.89. <u>1.90.</u>	Priority Tax Claim 9

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

	Page
1.90. <u>1.91.</u>	Proof of Claim 9
1.91. <u>1.92.</u>	Reorganized Debtors 9
1.92. <u>1.93.</u>	Reorganized Debtor Constituent Documents 9
1.93. <u>1.94.</u>	Reorganized PPC 9
1.94. <u>1.95.</u>	Reorganized To-Ricos 9
1.95. <u>1.96.</u>	Reorganized To-Ricos Distribution 9
1.96. — Resolved Disputed Claim	9
1.97. Restated Bylaws.....	9
1.98. Restated Certificate of Incorporation.....	9
1.99. Schedules	10
1.100. Secured Claim	10
1.101. Secured Tax Claim	10
1.102. Senior Notes.....	10
1.103. Senior Note Claims.....	10
1.104. Senior Subordinated Notes	10
1.105. Senior Subordinated Note Claims.....	10
1.106. SPA <u>Settling Unions</u>	10
1.107. STIP <u>SPA</u>	10
1.108. <u>STIP</u>	<u>10</u>
<u>1.109.</u> Stockholders Agreement.....	10
1.109. <u>1.110.</u> Subordinated Notes	10 <u>11</u>
1.110. <u>1.111.</u> Subordinated Note Claims	11
1.111. <u>1.112.</u>	To-Ricos 11
1.112. <u>1.113.</u>	To-Ricos Distribution 11
1.113. <u>1.114.</u>	Unliquidated Claim 11
1.114. <u>1.115.</u>	Voting Record Date 11
B. Interpretation; Application of Definitions and Rules of Construction.....	11
ARTICLE II PROVISIONS FOR PAYMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE CLAIMS AND PRIORITY TAX CLAIMS	11
2.1. Administrative Expense Claims.....	11
2.2. Professional Compensation and Reimbursement Claims	12
2.3. Indenture Trustee Fee Claims	12 <u>13</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

	Page
2.4. DIP Claims.....	13
2.5. Priority Tax Claims.....	13
ARTICLE III CLASSIFICATION OF CLAIMS AND EQUITY INTERESTS	13
ARTICLE IV TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND EQUITY INTERESTS.....	14
4.1. Classes 1(a)–(g): Priority Non-Tax Claims against the Debtors.....	14
4.2. Classes 2(a)–(c): Bank of Montreal Secured Claims against PPC, To- Ricos, and To-Ricos Distribution	14
4.3. Class 3: CoBank Secured Claims against PPC	14 <u>15</u>
4.4. Classes 4(a)–(g): Secured Tax Claims against the Debtors	15
4.5. Classes 5(a)–(g): Other Secured Claims against the Debtors	15 <u>16</u>
4.6. Classes 6(a)–(c): Note Claims against PPC	16
4.7. Classes 7(a)–(g): General Unsecured Claims against the Debtors	16 <u>17</u>
4.8. Class 8: Intercompany Claims	16 <u>17</u>
4.9. Classes 9(a)–(g): Flow-Through Claims against the Debtors	16 <u>17</u>
4.10. Class 10(a): Equity Interests in PPC.....	17
4.11. Classes 10(b)–(g): Equity Interests in the Debtors (Other than PPC).....	17 <u>18</u>
ARTICLE V MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION	18
5.1. Operations Between the Confirmation Date and the Effective Date	18
5.2. Corporate Action.....	18
5.3. Continued Corporate Existence of the Debtors	18 <u>19</u>
5.4. Cancellation and Surrender of Existing Securities and Agreements	18 <u>19</u>
5.5. Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws	19 <u>20</u>
5.6. Stock Purchase Agreement	19 <u>20</u>
5.7. Exit Financing.....	20
5.8. Issuance of New PPC Common Stock.....	20
5.9. Effectuating Documents and Further Transactions.....	20 <u>21</u>
5.10. Exemption from Securities Laws.....	20 <u>21</u>
ARTICLE VI VOTING AND DISTRIBUTIONS	21
6.1. Voting of Equity Interests.....	21
6.2. Nonconsensual Confirmation	21
6.3. Distribution Record Date	21
6.4. Date of Distributions.....	21 <u>22</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

	Page
6.5. Disbursing Agent	21 <u>22</u>
6.6. Rights and Powers of Disbursing Agent	21 <u>22</u>
6.7. Expenses of the Disbursing Agent	22
6.8. Delivery of Distributions	22
6.9. Unclaimed Distributions	22 <u>23</u>
6.10. Manner of Payment	23
6.11. Fractional Shares	23
6.12. Minimum Cash Distributions	23
6.13. Setoffs and Recoupment	23 <u>24</u>
ARTICLE VII PROCEDURES FOR DISPUTED CLAIMS	23 <u>24</u>
7.1. Objections / Objection Deadline	23 <u>24</u>
7.2. No Payment Pending Allowance	24
7.3. Distributions After Allowance	24
7.4. Resolution of Disputed Claims	24 <u>25</u>
7.5. Estimation of Claims	24 <u>25</u>
7.6. No Interest Pending Allowance	25
ARTICLE VIII TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES	25 <u>26</u>
8.1. Assumption or Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	25 <u>26</u>
8.2. Approval of Assumption, Assumption and Assignment, or Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	25 <u>26</u>
8.3. Inclusiveness	25 <u>26</u>
8.4. Cure of Defaults	26
8.5. Bar Date for Filing Proofs of Claim Relating to Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases Rejected Pursuant to the Plan	26 <u>27</u>
8.6. Indemnification Obligations	27
8.7. Insurance Policies	27 <u>28</u>
8.8. Compensation and Benefit Programs	27 <u>28</u>
8.9. Other Contracts to be Assumed	28 <u>29</u>
8.10. Retiree Benefits	28 <u>29</u>
ARTICLE IX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT OF THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS	29 <u>30</u>
9.1. General	29 <u>30</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

	Page
9.2. Initial Board of Directors	29 <u>30</u>
9.3. Officers.	29 <u>30</u>
9.4. New Employee Incentive Plans	29 <u>30</u>
9.5. Issuance of Non-Voting Securities	30 <u>31</u>
ARTICLE X EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION	30 <u>31</u>
10.1. Vesting of Assets	30 <u>31</u>
10.2. Discharge of Claims and Termination of Equity Interests.....	30 <u>31</u>
10.3. Discharge of Debtors	30 <u>31</u>
10.4. Injunction or Stay.....	31 <u>32</u>
10.5. Term of Injunctions or Stays	31 <u>32</u>
10.6. Injunction Against Interference With Plan	31 <u>32</u>
10.7. Exculpation	31 <u>32</u>
10.8. Releases by Holders of Claims and Equity Interests	32 <u>33</u>
10.9. Releases by Debtors and Reorganized Debtors	32 <u>33</u>
10.10. <u>Retention of</u> Avoidance Actions.....	33 <u>34</u>
10.11. Retention of Causes of Action/Reservation of Rights	33 <u>34</u>
10.12. Limitations on Exculpation and Releases of Representatives	33 <u>34</u>
ARTICLE XI CONDITIONS PRECEDENT to effective date	33 <u>TO EFFECTIVE DATE 35</u>
11.1. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness.....	33 <u>35</u>
11.2. Waiver of Conditions.....	34 <u>35</u>
11.3. Effect of Failure of Conditions to Effective Date	34 <u>35</u>
ARTICLE XII RETENTION OF JURISDICTION.....	34 <u>36</u>
ARTICLE XIII MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.....	36 <u>37</u>
13.1. Effectuating Documents and Further Transactions.....	36 <u>37</u>
13.2. Withholding and Reporting Requirements	36
<u>13.2. [Intentionally Omitted.]</u>	<u>38</u>
13.3. Corporate Action.....	36 <u>38</u>
13.4. Exemption from Transfer Taxes	37 <u>38</u>
13.5. Expedited Tax Determination.	37 <u>39</u>
13.6. Payment of Statutory Fees	37 <u>39</u>
13.7. Post-Confirmation Date Professional Fees and Expenses	38 <u>39</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

	Page
13.8. Dissolution of Committees	38 <u>39</u>
13.9. Indenture Trustees as Claim Holders	38 <u>39</u>
13.10. Plan Supplement	38 <u>39</u>
13.11. Substantial Consummation	38 <u>40</u>
13.12. Amendments or Modifications of the Plan	39 <u>40</u>
13.13. Revocation or Withdrawal of the Plan	39 <u>40</u>
13.14. Severability	39 <u>40</u>
13.15. Governing Law	39 <u>41</u>
13.16. Binding Effect	40 <u>41</u>
13.17. Exhibits/Schedules	40 <u>41</u>
13.18. Notices	40 <u>41</u>
13.19. Time	40 <u>42</u>
13.20. Section Headings	41 <u>42</u>
13.21. No Admissions	41 <u>43</u>

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A – Summary of Terms of Exit Facility

Exhibit B – Stock Purchase Agreement

Exhibit C – Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws

Exhibit D – Summary of New Employee Incentive Plans

Exhibit D-1 – Short Term Management Incentive Plan

Exhibit D-2 – Long Term Incentive Plan

Exhibit E – List of Initial Directors for the Reorganized Debtors

SCHEDULES

Schedule 1.34 – Compensation and Benefit Programs

Schedule 8.1 – Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Schedule 8.7 – Insurance Policies to be Rejected

Schedule 8.9 – Certain Contracts to be Rejected

**THIS IS NOT A SOLICITATION OF ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF
THE PLAN. ACCEPTANCES OR REJECTIONS MAY NOT BE SOLICITED
UNTIL A DISCLOSURE STATEMENT HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE
BANKRUPTCY COURT.**

**IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
FORT WORTH DIVISION**

In re

PILGRIM'S PRIDE CORPORATION, *et al.*,

Debtors.

§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

Chapter 11

Case No. 08-45664 (DML)

JOINTLY ADMINISTERED

**DEBTORS' AMENDED JOINT PLAN OF REORGANIZATION
UNDER CHAPTER 11 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE**

Pilgrim's Pride Corporation, PFS Distribution Company, PPC Transportation Company, To-Ricos, Ltd., To-Ricos Distribution, Ltd., Pilgrim's Pride Corporation of West Virginia, Inc., and PPC Marketing, Ltd. (collectively, the "Debtors") propose the following amended joint chapter 11 plan of reorganization, pursuant to section 1121(a) of title 11 of the United States Code:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

A. Definitions.

The following terms used herein shall have the respective meanings defined below (such meanings to be equally applicable to both the singular and plural):

1.1. **7 5/8% Indenture** means that certain indenture, dated as of January 24, 2007, between PPC and the 7 5/8% Indenture Trustee, pursuant to which the Senior Notes were issued, as such Indenture is or has been amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

1.2. **7 5/8% Indenture Trustee** means HSBC Bank USA, National Association, in its capacity as the successor indenture trustee for the Senior Notes pursuant to the 7 5/8% Indenture, or any successor thereto.

1.3. **8 3/8% Indenture** means that certain indenture, dated as of January 24, 2007, between PPC and the 8 3/8% Indenture Trustee, pursuant to which the Subordinated Notes were issued, as such Indenture is or has been amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

1.4. **8 3/8% Indenture Trustee** means The Bank of New York, in its capacity as the successor indenture trustee for the Subordinated Notes pursuant to the 8 3/8% Indenture, or any successor thereto.

1.5. **9 1/4% Indenture** means that certain indenture, dated as of November 21, 2003, between PPC and the 9 1/4% Indenture Trustee, pursuant to which the Senior Subordinated Notes were issued, as such Indenture is or has been amended, modified or supplemented from time to time.

1.6. **9 1/4% Indenture Trustee** means The Bank of New York, in its capacity as the indenture trustee for the Senior Subordinated Notes pursuant to the 9 1/4% Indenture, or any successor thereto.

1.7. **Administrative Expense Claims Bar Date** means the deadline for filing proofs of or requests for payment of Administrative Expense Claims, which shall be 60 days after the Effective Date, unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court.

1.8. **Administrative Expense Claims Objection Deadline** means, as applicable, (a) the day that is the later of (i) the first Business Day that is at least 30 days after the Administrative Expense Claims Bar Date and (ii) as to Administrative Expense Claims filed after the Administrative Expense Claims Bar Date, the first Business Day that is at least 30 days after a Final Order is entered deeming the late filed claim to be treated as timely filed or (b) such later date as may be established by the Bankruptcy Court upon request of the Reorganized Debtors without further notice to parties-in-interest.

1.9. **Administrative Expense Claim** means any Claim constituting a cost or expense of administration of the Chapter 11 Cases allowed under sections 503(b) (including 503(b)(9)), 507(a)(2) and 507(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, including, without limitation, any actual and necessary costs and expenses of preserving the Debtors' estates, any actual and necessary costs and expenses of operating the Debtors' business, any actual and necessary costs and expenses of the administration and implementation of the Plan, any indebtedness or obligations incurred or assumed by the Debtors, as Debtors in Possession, during the Chapter 11 Cases, including, without limitation, for the acquisition or lease of property or an interest in property or the rendition of services, any allowances of compensation and reimbursement of expenses to the extent allowed by Final Order under section 330 or 503 of the Bankruptcy Code, and any fees or charges assessed against the Debtors' estates under section 1930 of chapter 123 of title 28 of the United States Code.

1.10. **ADR Procedures Order** means the Order Pursuant to Section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rule 9019 and Local Rule 9019.2(I) Establishing Alternative Dispute Resolution Procedures for Resolution of Personal Injury Claims and (II) Granting Related Relief, entered by the Bankruptcy Court on April 9, 2009 [Docket No. 1435].

1.11. **Affiliate** shall have the meaning ascribed in section 101 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.12. **Allowed** means, (i) with respect to a Claim, that (a) such Claim has been listed by the Debtors in the Schedules, as such Schedules may be amended by the Debtors from time to time in accordance with Bankruptcy Rule 1009, as liquidated in amount and not disputed or contingent and no contrary Proof of Claim has been filed or objection interposed by the Debtors prior to ~~entry of the Disclosure Statement Order~~ Effective Date, (b) a Proof of Claim with respect to such Claim has been timely filed and no objection thereto has been interposed within the time period set forth in ~~Section~~ Sections 2.1 or 7.1 of the Plan, as applicable, or such other applicable period of limitation fixed by the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, or the Bankruptcy Court, or an objection thereto has been interposed and such Claim has been allowed in whole or in part by a Final Order, (c) such Claim has been expressly allowed by a Final Order or under the Plan, or (d) such Claim has been compromised, settled, or

otherwise resolved pursuant to the authority granted to the Debtors and Reorganized Debtors pursuant to a Final Order ~~of the Bankruptcy Court~~ or under Sections 7.1, 7.4, or 7.5 of the Plan; ~~provided, however, that only~~ and (ii) with respect to an Equity Interest, that such an Equity Interest is reflected in the stock transfer ledger or similar register of the applicable Debtor on either the Voting Record Date or the Distribution Record Date, as applicable, ~~shall be considered an Allowed Equity Interest.~~

1.13. **Avoidance Actions** means any actions commenced, or that may be commenced before or after the Effective Date, pursuant to section 544, 545, 547, 548, 550, or 551 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.14. **BMO** means Bank of Montreal, as agent for the lenders that are party, from time to time, to the Prepetition BMO Credit Agreement, and as agent for the DIP Lenders.

1.15. **BMO Guarantee Agreement** means the Pilgrim's Pride Corporation Second Amended and Restated Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2007.

1.16. **BMO Secured Claim** means all Claims arising under the Prepetition BMO Credit Agreement and all Claims of BMO, as agent, and lenders thereunder arising under the DIP Financing Order, less all payments made subsequent to the Commencement Date in respect of such Claims under the DIP Financing Order.

1.17. **Bankruptcy Code** means title 11 of the United States Code, as amended from time to time, as applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases.

1.18. **Bankruptcy Court** means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas, Fort Worth Division, or such other court that exercises jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases.

1.19. **Bankruptcy Rules** means the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure as promulgated by the United States Supreme Court under section 2075 of title 28 of the United States Code, as amended from time to time, and any Local Rules of the Bankruptcy Court, as applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases.

1.20. **Business Day** means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, or any other day on which banking institutions in New York, New York are required or authorized to close by law or executive order.

1.21. **Cash** means legal tender of the United States of America.

1.22. **Chapter 11 Cases** means the cases under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code commenced by the Debtors on December 1, 2008 in the Bankruptcy Court and styled *In re Pilgrim's Pride Corporation, et al.*, Chapter 11 Case No. 08-45664 (DML) (Jointly Administered).

1.23. **Charging Lien** means any right of any Indenture Trustee to a Lien upon or other priority in payment with respect to distributions to be made to holders of Note Claims for payment of any Indenture Trustee Fees arising prior to the Effective Date.

1.24. **Chief Restructuring Officer** means William Snyder of CRG Partners Group LLC, in his capacity as chief restructuring officer for PPC in these Chapter 11 Cases, and ~~his~~ professionals CRG Partners Group LLC.

1.25. **Claim** shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in section 101 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.26. **Claims Agent** means Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC, in its capacity as the claims and noticing agent appointed in these Chapter 11 Cases.

1.27. **Class** means any group of Claims or Equity Interests classified by the Plan as set forth in Article III of the Plan.

1.28. **CoBank** means CoBank, ACB, as administrative, documentation and collateral agent for the benefit of present and future syndication parties, lead arranger and book manager under the Prepetition CoBank Credit Agreement.

1.29. **CoBank Guarantee Agreement** means the Amended and Restated Guaranty of Pilgrim Interests, Ltd. to the Lender Group and CoBank, ACB, as Agent, dated as of September 21, 2006.

1.30. **CoBank Secured Claim** means all Claims arising under the Prepetition CoBank Credit Agreement and all Claims of CoBank, as agent, and lenders thereunder arising under the DIP Financing Order, less all payments made subsequent to the Commencement Date in respect of such Claims under the DIP Financing Order.

1.31. **Collateral** means any property or interest in property of the Debtors' estates subject to a Lien, charge, or other encumbrance to secure the payment or performance of a Claim, which Lien, charge, or other encumbrance is not subject to avoidance under the Bankruptcy Code.

1.32. **Commencement Date** means December 1, 2008, the date on which the Debtors commenced the Chapter 11 Cases.

1.33. **Committees** means, collectively, the Creditors' Committee, the Equity Committee, and the Fee Review Committee.

1.34. **Compensation and Benefit Programs** means the following compensation and benefit programs: the Debtors' workers' compensation programs, the Debtors' 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan, Retirement Plan for Union Employees, Retirement Plan for El Dorado Union Employees, UFCW Pension Plan, the Debtors' 401k Plan, Severance Plan, programs related to paid time off, vacation, sick and personal days, holiday pay, 2009 Performance Bonus Plan, the Debtors' Medical, Dental and Vision Plans, the Debtors' Basic Life, AD&D, and Business Travel Accident Insurance, the Debtors' Voluntary Accident Insurance Policy, Voluntary Whole Life Insurance Policy, Voluntary Critical Illness Insurance Policy, the Debtors' Disability Benefits, Flexible Spending Programs, Key Employee Incentive Compensation Agreements, Performance Improvement Plan, Professional Drivers Incentive Program, Attendance Award Program, Incentive Education Program, Referral and [Sign-On Awards](#), Service Awards, Tuition Reimbursement, Chaplain Program, Nurse Line Program, Special Beginnings Maternity Program, Car Allowance Program, and Relocation Program, the Gold Kist Director Emeritus Agreement for Medical Benefits, the Gold Kist Director Emeritus Life Benefits Agreement, the Gold Kist Deferred Compensation Agreements, the Gold Kist Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, the Gold Kist Executive Savings Plan, the Gold Kist Directors Savings Plan, the Gold Kist Enhanced Defined Contribution Plan, and the Pilgrim's Pride Pension Plan for Legacy Gold Kist Employees, all as more fully described on Schedule 1.34 hereof.

1.35. **Compensation-Related Obligation** means a Claim of a present or former employee, officer or director of any of the Debtors in his or her capacity as such, (i) for current or future wages, salary, commissions, or benefits, or (ii) with respect to any Compensation and Benefit Program or any other employment or severance program that has not been rejected or otherwise terminated under this Plan or pursuant to another order of the Bankruptcy Court.

1.36. **Confirmation Date** means the date on which the Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court enters the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Bankruptcy Court with respect to the Chapter 11 Cases.

1.37. **Confirmation Hearing** means the hearing to be held by the Bankruptcy Court regarding confirmation of the Plan in accordance with section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code, as such hearing may be adjourned or continued from time to time.

1.38. **Confirmation Order** means the order of the Bankruptcy Court confirming the Plan pursuant to section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.39. **Contingent Claim** means any Claim, the liability for which attaches or is dependent upon the occurrence of, or is triggered by, an event, which event has not yet occurred as of the date on which such Claim is sought to be estimated or an objection to such Claim is filed, whether or not such event is within the actual or presumed contemplation of the holder of such Claim and whether or not a relationship between the holder of such Claim and the applicable Debtor now or hereafter exists or previously existed.

1.40. **Covered Professionals** has the meaning ascribed to such term in the Order Granting Motion for (I) Appointment of a Fee Review Committee and (II) Amendment of the Interim Compensation Order entered by the Bankruptcy Court on April 29, 2009 [Docket No. 1624-~~in the Chapter 11 Cases~~].

1.41. **Creditors' Committee** means the statutory committee of unsecured creditors appointed pursuant to section 1102 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Chapter 11 Cases, as may be reconstituted from time to time.

1.42. **Debtors** means PPC, PFS Distribution Company, PPC Transportation Company, To-Ricos, To-Ricos Distribution, Pilgrim's Pride Corporation of West Virginia, Inc., and PPC Marketing, Ltd.

1.43. **Debtors in Possession** means the Debtors in their capacity as debtors in possession in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to sections 1101, 1107(a), and 1108 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.44. **DIP Claims** means all Claims arising under the DIP Credit Agreement and the DIP Financing Order.

1.45. **DIP Credit Agreement** means that certain amended and restated postpetition credit agreement entered into as of December 1, 2008, by and among PPC, To-Ricos and To-Ricos Distribution, as guarantors, the DIP Lenders, and BMO, as agent for the DIP Lenders, as amended from time to time.

1.46. **DIP Financing Order** means the Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court entered on December 30, 2008 authorizing the Debtors to make borrowings under the DIP Credit Agreement [Docket No. 396].

1.47. **DIP Lenders** means the several lenders party from time to time to the DIP Credit Agreement.

1.48. **Disallowed Claim** means a Claim or a portion of a Claim that is disallowed by an order of the Bankruptcy Court or any other court of competent jurisdiction.

1.49. **Disbursing Agent** means such Entity as is designated pursuant to Section 6.5 of the Plan to be a disbursing agent.

1.50. **Disclosure Statement** means the disclosure statement with respect to the Plan filed with and approved by the Bankruptcy Court in accordance with section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code, as such disclosure statement may be amended, modified or supplemented.

1.51. **Disputed Claim** means, with respect to a Claim or Equity Interest, any such Claim (including any Administrative Expense Claim) or Equity Interest (a) to the extent neither Allowed nor disallowed under ~~this~~the Plan or a Final Order nor deemed Allowed under section 502, 503 or 1111 of the Bankruptcy Code, (b) which has been or hereafter is listed by a Debtor on its Schedules as unliquidated, disputed or contingent and which has not been resolved by written agreement of the parties or a Final Order, or (c) for which a Proof of Claim ~~or interest~~ has been timely filed with the Bankruptcy Court or a written request for payment has been made, ~~to the extent that~~ and the Debtors or ~~any party in interest has~~the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, have interposed a timely objection and/or request for estimation ~~prior to the Confirmation Date~~ in accordance with ~~this~~the Plan, which objection or request for estimation has not been withdrawn or determined by a Final Order. Prior to the earlier of the time an objection has been timely filed and the expiration of the time within which to object to such Claim set forth herein or otherwise established by order of the Bankruptcy Court, a Claim shall be considered a Disputed Claim to the extent that (i) the amount of the Claim specified in a Proof of Claim exceeds the amount of the Claim scheduled by the Debtor as not disputed, contingent or unliquidated, and/or (ii) to the extent that any such Claim is classified differently in the Proof of Claim than as set forth on the Debtors' schedules.

1.52. **Distribution Record Date** means, (a) with respect to holders of all Claims, the date that is three (3) days after the Confirmation Date, and (b) with respect to Equity Interests, the Effective Date.

1.53. **Effective Date** means the Closing Date (as specified in section 2.03 of the SPA); provided, however, that the conditions to the effectiveness of the Plan specified in Article 11 of the Plan have been satisfied or waived.

1.54. **Entity** means a person, corporation, general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, association, joint stock company, joint venture, estate, trust, unincorporated organization, ~~governmental unit~~Governmental Unit or any subdivision thereof, including, without limitation, the Office of the United States Trustee.

1.55. **Equity Committee** means the statutory committee of equity security holders appointed pursuant to section 1102 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Chapter 11 Cases, as may be reconstituted from time to time.

1.56. **Equity Interest** means the interest of any holder of an equity security of any of the Debtors represented by any issued and outstanding shares of common stock or any other instrument evidencing an ownership interest in any of the Debtors, whether or not transferable, or any option, warrant, or right, contractual or otherwise, to acquire any such interest.

1.57. **Exit Facility** means the credit facility pursuant to the Exit Facility Documents, the material terms of which shall be substantially the same as those set forth on Exhibit A.

1.58. **Exit Facility Agent** means CoBank, as administrative agent for the Exit Lenders under the Exit Facility.

1.59. **Exit Facility Documents** means the agreements, documents and instruments to be dated on or about the Effective Date and to be entered into among Reorganized PPC, Reorganized To-Ricos and Reorganized To-Ricos Distribution, as borrowers, the Exit Facility Agent and the Exit Lenders, in respect of a credit facility for an amount not less than \$~~1,750,000,000~~, 1,650,000,000, and all related documents, instruments and agreements entered into or executed in connection therewith, the proceeds of which shall be available for use by the Reorganized Debtors to, among other things, make distributions under the Plan to the holders of Allowed Claims against the Debtors and to satisfy general working capital requirements of the Reorganized Debtors on and after the Effective Date.

1.60. **Exit Financing** means any financing arrangement that the Reorganized Debtors enter into on or about the Effective Date in connection with the consummation of the Plan, including the Exit Facility, and any amendments, modifications or supplements thereto.

1.61. **Exit Lenders** means the lenders under the Exit Facility.

1.62. **Fee Review Committee** means the committee appointed pursuant to sections 105(a) and 331 of the Bankruptcy Code, Rule 2016(a) of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, and the Guidelines for Compensation and Expense Reimbursement of Professionals as incorporated in General Order 2006-02 to review the fees of Covered Professionals retained by the Debtors in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases.

1.63. **Final Order** means an order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court ~~entered by the Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court on the docket in the Chapter 11 Cases,~~ or any other court of competent jurisdiction that has not been reversed, vacated, or stayed, and as to which (i) the time to appeal, petition for *certiorari*, or move for a new trial, reargument, or rehearing has expired, and as to which no appeal, petition for *certiorari*, or other proceedings for a new trial, reargument, or rehearing shall then be pending, or (ii) if an appeal, writ of *certiorari*, new trial, reargument, or rehearing thereof has been sought, such order or judgment ~~of the Bankruptcy Court~~ shall have been affirmed by the highest court to which such order was appealed, or *certiorari* shall have been denied, or a new trial, reargument, or rehearing shall have been denied or resulted in no modification of such order, and the time to take any further appeal, petition for *certiorari* or move for a new trial, reargument, or rehearing shall have expired; provided, however, that the possibility that a motion under Rule 60 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, or any analogous rule under the Bankruptcy Rules, may be filed relating to such order shall not cause such order to not be a Final Order.

1.64. **Flow-Through Claim** means an Allowed Claim arising from (a) an Ordinary Course Customer Obligation, or (b) ~~an~~ a Compensation-Related Obligation; provided, however, that all defenses to any Flow-Through Claim shall be fully preserved and that nothing herein is an admission that any person has a Flow-Through Claim.

1.65. **General Unsecured Claim** means any Claim against any of the Debtors other than a Priority Non-Tax Claim, a BMO Secured Claim, a CoBank Secured Claim, a Secured Tax Claim, an Other Secured Claim, a Note Claim, an Intercompany Claim, or an Equity Interest.

1.66. **Governmental Unit** has the meaning ascribed to such term in section 101(27) of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.67. ~~1.66.~~ **Guarantee Agreements** means collectively, the BMO Guarantee Agreement and the CoBank Guarantee Agreement.

1.68. ~~1.67.~~ **Indenture Trustees** means the 7 5/8% Indenture Trustee, the 8 3/8% Indenture Trustee, and the 9 1/4% Indenture Trustee, collectively.

1.69. ~~1.68.~~ **Indenture Trustee Fee Claim** means any Claim of any Indenture Trustee for the reimbursement of its reasonable accrued and unpaid fees and expenses under the applicable Indenture.

1.70. ~~1.69.~~ **Indentures** means the 7 5/8% Indenture, the 8 3/8% Indenture, and the 9 1/4% Indenture, collectively.

1.71. ~~1.70.~~ **Intercompany Claim** means any Claim against any Debtor held by another Debtor.

1.72. ~~1.71.~~ **Lien** means any charge against or interest in property to secure payment of a debt or performance of an obligation.

1.73. ~~1.72.~~ **LTIP** means the Long Term Incentive Plan, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D-2 and having the material terms set forth on Exhibit D.

1.74. ~~1.73.~~ **Mandatory Exchange Transaction** means that right of the Plan Sponsor to convert New PPC Common Stock into equity interests in the Plan Sponsor, as set forth in the Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

1.75. ~~1.74.~~ **New Employee Incentive Plans** means the STIP and the LTIP.

1.76. ~~1.75.~~ **New PPC Common Stock** means the shares of common stock to be issued by Reorganized PPC, having the material terms set forth in the Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

1.77. ~~1.76.~~ **Note Claims** means all Senior Note Claims, Subordinated Note Claims and Senior Subordinated Note Claims, collectively.

1.78. ~~1.77.~~ **Notes** means the Senior Notes, Subordinated Notes, and the Senior Subordinated Notes.

1.79. ~~1.78.~~ **Ordinary Course Customer Obligation** means any obligation of any Debtor or Debtors to any customer of such Debtor or Debtors incurred in the ordinary course of business conducted between such Debtor or Debtors and such customer.

1.80. ~~1.79.~~ **Other Secured Claim** means any Secured Claim other than a Secured Tax Claim, a BMO Secured Claim, or a CoBank Secured Claim.

1.81. ~~1.80.~~ **Pilgrim's Pride** means, collectively, PPC and its debtor and non-debtor affiliates.

1.82. ~~1.81.~~ **Plan** means this Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, including the Plan Documents, the Plan Supplement, and the exhibits and schedules hereto and thereto, as the same may be amended or modified from time to time in accordance with the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and the terms of the Plan.

1.83. ~~1.82.~~ **Plan Sponsor** means JBS USA Holdings, Inc.

1.84. ~~1.83.~~ **Plan Supplement** means the document (as may be amended, modified or supplemented) containing the forms of documents specified in Section 13.10 of the Plan.

1.85. ~~1.84.~~ **PPC** means Pilgrim's Pride Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

1.86. ~~1.85.~~ **PPC Common Stock** means the shares of common stock of PPC issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Date, excluding any shares of restricted stock of PPC as to which any conditions to vesting shall not have lapsed or shall not have been satisfied as of the Effective Date.

1.87. ~~1.86.~~ **Prepetition BMO Credit Agreement** means that certain Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2007, among PPC, BMO, as agent, the lenders from time to time party thereto, SunTrust Bank, as syndication agent and U.S. Bank National Association and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as co-documentation agents, as may have been amended from time to time.

1.88. ~~1.87.~~ **Prepetition CoBank Credit Agreement** means that 2006 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (Convertible Revolving Loan and Term Loan), dated as of September 21, 2006, by and among PPC, CoBank, as administrative, documentation and collateral agent for the benefit of present and future syndication parties, lead arranger and book manager, Agriland, FCS, as co-syndication agent and a syndication party, the other agents and syndication parties signatory thereto, as may have been amended from time to time.

1.89. ~~1.88.~~ **Priority Non-Tax Claim** means a Claim entitled to priority in payment as specified in section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code (other than a Priority Tax Claim or an Administrative Expense Claim).

1.90. ~~1.89.~~ **Priority Tax Claim** means any Claim of a ~~governmental unit~~ Governmental Unit of the kind entitled to priority in payment as specified in sections 502(i) and 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.91. ~~1.90.~~ **Proof of Claim** means any proof of Claim or request for payment of an Administrative Expense Claim filed by any holder of a Claim in these Bankruptcy Cases; ~~provided, however, that Proof of Claim shall not include any (i) request for administrative expense status pursuant to section 503(b)(9) of the Bankruptcy Code, or (ii) request for reclamation pursuant to section 546(e) of the Bankruptcy Code.~~

1.92. ~~1.91.~~ **Reorganized Debtors** means each of the Debtors, as reorganized as of the Effective Date in accordance with the Plan, and their successors.

1.93. ~~1.92.~~ **Reorganized Debtor Constituent Documents** means the bylaws, certificates and/or articles of incorporation, partnership agreements, limited liability company membership agreements, and other organizational documents as applicable, for each of the Reorganized Debtors, as amended and restated as of the Effective Date, among other things, to (a) prohibit the issuance of non-voting equity securities by such Debtor as required by section 1123(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code, and (b) otherwise give effect to the provisions of the Plan including, without limitation, the Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws.

1.94. ~~1.93.~~ **Reorganized PPC** means PPC, as reorganized as of the Effective Date in accordance with the Plan.

1.95. ~~1.94.~~ **Reorganized To-Ricos** means To-Ricos, Ltd., as reorganized as of the Effective Date in accordance with the Plan.

1.96. ~~1.95.~~ **Reorganized To-Ricos Distribution** means To-Ricos Distribution, Ltd., as reorganized as of the Effective Date in accordance with the Plan.

~~1.96. **Resolved Disputed Claim** means any Disputed Claim that is resolved pursuant to (i) Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, or (ii) a settlement agreement between the holder of such Disputed Claim and the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors or any one of them.~~

1.97. **Restated Bylaws** means the amended and restated bylaws to be adopted by PPC, which will be effective upon the Effective Date, substantially in the form of Exhibit C, as may be amended prior to the Confirmation Date with the consent of the Plan Sponsor.

1.98. **Restated Certificate of Incorporation** means the amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be adopted by PPC and filed with the Secretary of State of State of Delaware on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, substantially in the form of Exhibit C, as may be amended prior to the Confirmation Date with the consent of the Plan Sponsor.

1.99. **Schedules** means the schedules of assets and liabilities and the statements of financial affairs filed by the Debtors pursuant to section 521 of the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rule 1007, and the Official Bankruptcy Forms of the Bankruptcy Rules, as such schedules and statements may be supplemented or amended on or prior to the Effective Date.

1.100. **Secured Claim** means any Claim (other than a DIP Claim) that is secured by a Lien on Collateral, to the extent such lien is valid, perfected, and enforceable under applicable law and is not subject to avoidance under the Bankruptcy Code or applicable non-bankruptcy law, and only to the extent of the value of such Collateral, as determined in accordance with section 506(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, or, in the event that such Claim is subject to a permissible setoff under section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code, to the extent of such permissible setoff; provided that to the extent that the value of such interest is less than the amount of the Claim which has the benefit of such security, the unsecured portion of such Claim shall be treated as an Unsecured Claim unless, in any such case, the class of which such Claim is a part makes a valid and timely election in accordance with section 1111(b) of the Bankruptcy Code to have such Claim treated as a Secured Claim to the extent allowed.

1.101. **Secured Tax Claim** means any Secured Claim that, absent its secured status, would be entitled to priority in right of payment under section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code (determined irrespective of any time limitations therein).

1.102. **Senior Notes** means those certain 7 5/8% senior notes due May 1, 2015, issued on January 24, 2007 by PPC in the aggregate amount of \$400 million.

1.103. **Senior Note Claims** means all Claims arising under any of the Senior Notes, which shall include interest from and after the Commencement Date at the non-default, contract rate.

1.104. **Senior Subordinated Notes** means those certain 9 1/4% senior subordinated notes due November 15, 2013, issued on November 21, 2003 by PPC in the aggregate amount of \$6.996 million.

1.105. **Senior Subordinated Note Claims** means all Claims arising under any of the Senior Subordinated Notes, which shall include interest from and after the Commencement Date at the rate of at the non-default, contract rate.

1.106. **Settling Unions** means collectively, the United Food and Commercial Workers International Union and its various local affiliates, including the Retail, Wholesale, and Department Store Union, the Bakery, Confectionery, Tobacco Workers and Grain Millers International Union, and the United Steel Workers of America.

1.107. ~~1.106.~~ *SPA* means the Stock Purchase Agreement between the Plan Sponsor and PPC, as the same may be amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time, attached hereto as Exhibit B, and all documents executed in connection therewith pursuant to which the Plan Sponsor shall purchase New PPC Common Stock in the amount set forth in the SPA.

1.108. ~~1.107.~~ *STIP* means the Short Term Management Incentive Plan, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D-1 having the material terms set forth on Exhibit D.

1.109. ~~1.108.~~ *Stockholders Agreement* means the Stockholders Agreement between Reorganized PPC and the Plan Sponsor to be entered into on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, in the form of Exhibit A that is attached to the SPA.

1.110. ~~1.109.~~ *Subordinated Notes* means those certain 8 3/8% senior subordinated notes due May 1, 2017, issued on January 24, 2007 by PPC in the aggregate amount of \$250 million.

1.111. ~~1.110.~~ *Subordinated Note Claims* means all Claims arising under any of the Subordinated Notes, which shall include interest from and after the Commencement Date at the non-default, contract rate.

1.112. ~~1.111.~~ *To-Ricos* means To-Ricos, Ltd., a Bermuda company.

1.113. ~~1.112.~~ *To-Ricos Distribution* means To-Ricos Distribution, Ltd., a Bermuda company.

1.114. ~~1.113.~~ *Unliquidated Claim* means any Claim, the amount of liability for which has not been fixed, whether pursuant to agreement, applicable law, or otherwise, as of the date on which such Claim is sought to be estimated or an objection is filed.

1.115. ~~1.114.~~ *Voting Record Date* means the record date or dates(s) for voting on the Plan that is designated in the order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the Disclosure Statement.

B. Interpretation; Application of Definitions and Rules of Construction.

Unless otherwise specified, all section or exhibit references in the Plan are to the respective section in, or exhibit to, the Plan, as the same may be amended, waived, or modified from time to time. The words "herein," "hereof," "hereto," "hereunder," and other words of similar import refer to the Plan as a whole and not to any particular section, subsection, or clause contained therein. Whenever the words "include", "includes" or "including" are used in the Plan, they are deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation." A term used herein that is not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to that term in the Bankruptcy Code. The rules of construction contained in section 102 of the Bankruptcy Code shall apply to the Plan. Words denoting the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa, as appropriate, and words denoting one gender shall include the other gender and the neuter and words denoting the neuter shall include any applicable gender. In the event that a particular term of the Plan (including any exhibits or schedules hereto) conflicts with a particular term of the definitive documentation required to be implemented pursuant to the terms of the Plan or any settlement or other agreement contemplated hereunder, the definitive documentation shall control and shall be binding on the parties thereto. The headings in the Plan are for convenience of reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the provisions of the Plan.

ARTICLE II

PROVISIONS FOR PAYMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE CLAIMS AND PRIORITY TAX CLAIMS

Administrative Expense Claims and Priority Tax Claims are not designated as classes of Claims for purposes of the Plan or for purposes of sections 1123, 1124, 1125, 1126 or 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code, and are not entitled to vote on the Plan.

2.1. *Administrative Expense Claims.*

(a) Time for Filing Administrative Expense Claims. The holder of an Administrative Expense Claim, other than (i) a claim covered by sections 2.2, 2.3, or 2.4 hereof, (ii) a liability incurred and payable in the ordinary course of business by a Debtor (and not past due), (iii) an Administrative Expense Claim that has been Allowed on or before the Effective Date, or (iv) a claim subject to section 503(b)(9) of the Bankruptcy Code, must file with the Bankruptcy Court and serve on the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and the Office of the United States Trustee, notice of such Administrative Expense Claim on or prior to the Administrative Expense Claim Bar Date. Such notice must include at a minimum (A) the name of the Debtor(s) which are purported to be liable for the Claim, (B) the name of the holder of the Claim, (C) the amount of the Claim, and (D) the basis of the Claim.

Failure to file and serve such notice timely and properly shall result in the Administrative Expense Claim being forever barred and discharged.

(b) Allowance of ~~Expense~~ Administrative Expense Claims. An Administrative Expense Claim with respect to which notice has been properly filed and served pursuant to Section 2.1(a) shall become an Allowed Administrative Expense Claim if no objection is filed on or prior to the Administrative Expense Claims Objection Deadline. If an objection is timely filed, the Administrative Expense Claim shall become an Allowed Administrative Expense Claim only to the extent allowed by Final Order or settled, compromised, otherwise resolved by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors pursuant to section 7.4 of the Plan.

(c) Payment of Allowed Administrative Expense Claims. Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Administrative Expense Claim (other than a claim covered by sections 2.2, 2.3, or 2.4 hereof) agrees to a less favorable treatment, each Allowed Administrative Expense Claim (including any Allowed Claim asserted under section 503(b)(9) of the Bankruptcy Code) shall be paid by the Reorganized Debtors in full, in Cash, in an amount equal to the unpaid portion of such Allowed Administrative Expense Claim on or as soon as reasonably practicable following the later to occur of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date on which such Administrative Expense Claim shall become an Allowed Claim; *provided, however*, that Allowed Administrative Expense Claims (other than a claim covered by sections 2.2, 2.3, or 2.4 hereof) against any of the Debtors representing liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business by any of the Debtors, as Debtors in Possession, ~~or liabilities arising under loans or advances to or other obligations incurred by any of the Debtors, as Debtors in Possession, whether or not incurred in the ordinary course of business,~~ shall be paid by the Debtors in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice and in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of any agreements governing, instruments evidencing, or other documents relating to such transactions; provided further, however, that upon payment of the Allowed BMO Secured Claims and the Allowed CoBank Secured Claims (both as defined below), as applicable, any Allowed Administrative Expense Claims of BMO and CoBank, as agents for the lenders that are party from time to time to the Prepetition BMO Credit Agreement and the Prepetition CoBank Credit Agreement, respectively, shall be deemed satisfied in full.

2.2. Professional Compensation and Reimbursement Claims.

The Bankruptcy Court shall fix in the Confirmation Order a date for the filing of, and a date to hear and determine, all applications for final allowance of compensation for services rendered or reimbursement of expenses incurred through and including the Confirmation Date under sections 328 and 330 of the Bankruptcy Code or applications for allowance of Administrative Expense Claims arising under section 503(b)(2), 503(b)(3), 503(b)(4), or 503(b)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code. Unless otherwise agreed to by the claimant and the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, the Allowed Administrative Expense Claims arising under section 330, 331, 503(b)(2), 503(b)(3), 503(b)(4), and 503(b)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code shall be paid in full, in Cash, as soon as practicable following the later to occur of (a) the Effective Date and (b) the date upon which any such Administrative Expense Claim becomes an Allowed Administrative Expense Claim. The Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, are authorized to pay compensation for services rendered or reimbursement of expenses incurred after the Confirmation Date and until the Effective Date in the ordinary course of business and without the need for Bankruptcy Court or Fee Review Committee approval.

2.3. Indenture Trustee Fee Claims.

Notwithstanding any provision contained in this Plan to the contrary, unless otherwise agreed to by an Indenture Trustee and Reorganized PPC, all Indenture Trustee Fee Claims and fees for services related to distributions pursuant to the Plan shall be paid in Cash on the Effective Date by Reorganized PPC as Administrative Expense Claims, without the need for application to, or approval of, any court. The Indenture Trustee's Charging Lien will be discharged solely upon payment in full of the Indenture Trustee Fee Claims. Nothing herein shall be deemed to impair, waive or discharge the Charging Lien for any fees and expenses not paid by Reorganized PPC.

2.4. DIP Claims.

Except to the extent that a DIP Lender agrees to a different treatment, the DIP Claims shall be paid in full, in Cash, ~~as soon as reasonably practicable following the Effective Date~~ on the Effective Date and all fees and expenses of attorneys and financial advisors for BMO, as agent for the DIP Lenders, shall be paid in accordance with the DIP Financing Order and DIP Credit Agreement on the later of (i) the Effective Date and (ii) presentment of the relevant invoices to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable.

2.5. Priority Tax Claims.

Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim has been paid by the Debtors prior to the Effective Date or agrees to a less favorable treatment, each holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim shall receive, (A) at the sole option of the Reorganized Debtors, (a) Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Priority Tax Claim, including any interest on such Allowed Priority Tax Claim required to be paid pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code, on or as soon as reasonably practicable following the later to occur of (i) the Effective Date and (ii) the date on which such Priority Tax Claim shall become an Allowed Priority Tax Claim, (b) equal semi-annual Cash payments with interest at the applicable non-bankruptcy rate in an aggregate amount equal to such Allowed Priority Tax Claim, ~~together with interest at the applicable non-bankruptcy rate, including any interest on such Allowed Priority Tax Claim required to be paid pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code, with payments~~ commencing upon the later of the Effective Date and the date such Priority Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Priority Tax Claim, or as soon thereafter as is practicable and continuing over a period ending no later than five (5) years after the Commencement Date, or (c) such other treatment as shall be determined by the Bankruptcy Court to provide the holder of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim deferred Cash payments having a value, as of the Effective Date, equal

to such Allowed Priority Tax Claim, or (B) such other distribution as necessary to satisfy the requirements of section 1129(a)(9)(C) of the Bankruptcy Code.

ARTICLE III

CLASSIFICATION OF CLAIMS AND EQUITY INTERESTS

The following table designates the Classes of Claims against and Equity Interests in the Debtors and specifies which of those Classes are (i) impaired or unimpaired by the Plan and (ii) entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan in accordance with section 1126 of the Bankruptcy Code or either deemed to accept or deemed to reject the Plan.

Class	Designation	Status	Entitled to Vote?
Classes 1 (a)-(g)	Priority Non-Tax Claims against PPC, PFS Distribution Company, PPC Transportation Company, To-Ricos, To-Ricos Distribution, Pilgrim's Pride Corporation of West Virginia, Inc., and PPC Marketing, Ltd., as applicable	Unimpaired	No (deemed to accept)
Classes 2 (a)-(c)	BMO Secured Claims against PPC, To-Ricos and To-Ricos Distribution, as applicable	Unimpaired	No (deemed to accept)
Class 3	CoBank Secured Claims against PPC	Unimpaired	No (deemed to accept)
Classes 4(a)-(g)	Secured Tax Claims against PPC, PFS Distribution Company, PPC Transportation Company, To-Ricos, To-Ricos Distribution, Pilgrim's Pride Corporation of West Virginia, Inc., and PPC Marketing, Ltd., as applicable	Unimpaired	No (deemed to accept)
Classes 5(a)-(g)	Other Secured Claims against PPC, PFS Distribution Company, PPC Transportation Company, To-Ricos, To-Ricos Distribution, Pilgrim's Pride Corporation of West Virginia, Inc., and PPC Marketing, Ltd., as applicable	Unimpaired	No (deemed to accept)
Classes 6(a)-(c)	Note Claims against PPC	Unimpaired	No (deemed to accept)
Classes 7(a)-(g)	General Unsecured Claims against PPC, PFS Distribution Company, PPC Transportation Company, To-Ricos, To-Ricos Distribution, Pilgrim's Pride Corporation of West Virginia, Inc., and PPC Marketing, Ltd., as applicable	Unimpaired	No (deemed to accept)
Class 8	Intercompany Claims	Unimpaired	No (deemed to accept)
Classes 9(a)-(g)	Flow-Through Claims	Unimpaired	No (deemed to accept)
Classes 10(a)	Equity Interests in PPC	Impaired	Yes
Class 10(b)-(g)	Equity Interests in PFS Distribution Company, PPC Transportation Company, To-Ricos, To-Ricos Distribution, Pilgrim's Pride Corporation of West Virginia, Inc., and PPC Marketing, Ltd., as applicable	Unimpaired	No (deemed to accept)

ARTICLE IV

TREATMENT OF CLAIMS AND EQUITY INTERESTS

4.1. *Classes 1(a)–(g): Priority Non-Tax Claims against the Debtors.*

(a) Impairment and Voting. Classes 1(a) through (g) are unimpaired by the Plan. Each holder of an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Distributions. Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Priority Non-Tax Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, each such holder shall receive, in full satisfaction of such Claim, Cash in an amount equal to such Claim, on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of (i) the Effective Date, and (ii) the date such Claim becomes Allowed.

4.2. *Classes 2(a)–(c): Bank of Montreal Secured Claims against PPC, To-Ricos, and To-Ricos Distribution.*

(a) Allowed Claim. On the Effective Date, BMO, in its capacity as agent for the lenders that are party, from time to time, to the Prepetition BMO Credit Agreement, shall be deemed to have an allowed BMO Secured Claim in an amount to be agreed upon by the Debtors and BMO prior to the Confirmation Hearing, which will be fully secured and not subject to any avoidance, recharacterization, disallowance, subordination, recoupment, setoff, defense or counterclaim (the “Allowed BMO Secured Claim”).

(b) ~~(a)~~ Impairment and Voting. Classes 2(a) through 2(c) are unimpaired by the Plan. Each holder of an Allowed BMO Secured Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(c) ~~(b)~~ Distributions. Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed BMO Secured Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, each such holder shall receive, in full satisfaction of such Claim, Cash in an amount equal to such Claim on the Effective Date. Letters of credit issued by BMO and outstanding as of the Effective Date shall be cancelled and returned to the issuing bank with notice to BMO, or cash in an amount of 105% of the face amount of the letter of credit shall be placed with the letter of credit bank, or replacement letters of credit shall be issued under the Exit Facility. Upon satisfaction of the Allowed BMO Secured Claims as set forth herein, the obligations set forth in the BMO Guarantee Agreement shall be cancelled.

4.3. *Class 3: CoBank Secured Claims against PPC.*

(a) Allowed Claim. On the Effective Date, CoBank, in its capacity as agent for the lenders that are party, from time to time, to the Prepetition CoBank Credit Agreement, shall be deemed to have an allowed CoBank Secured Claim in an amount to be agreed upon by the Debtors and CoBank prior to the Confirmation Hearing, which will be fully secured and not subject to any avoidance, recharacterization, disallowance, subordination, recoupment, setoff, defense or counterclaim (the “Allowed CoBank Secured Claim”).

(b) ~~(a)~~ Impairment and Voting. Class 3 is unimpaired by the Plan. Each holder of an Allowed CoBank Secured Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(c) ~~(b)~~ Distributions. Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed CoBank Secured Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, each Allowed CoBank Secured Claim shall be, at the sole option of the Reorganized PPC, (i) satisfied in full in Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed CoBank Secured Claim, on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of (a) the Effective Date, and (b) the date such Claim becomes Allowed, (ii) reinstated pursuant to amended terms and conditions to be negotiated, or (iii) reinstated and rendered unimpaired in accordance with section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code, notwithstanding any contractual provision or applicable nonbankruptcy law that entitles the holder of an Allowed CoBank Secured Claim to demand or receive payment of such Claim prior to its stated maturity from and after the occurrence of default. To the extent that any holder of an Allowed CoBank Secured Claim is entitled to accrued and unpaid postpetition interest on account of such Claim, such holder will receive, at the sole option of the Reorganized PPC, either (i) Cash in an amount equal to such accrued and unpaid postpetition default interest, or (ii) satisfaction of such accrued and unpaid postpetition interest on such other terms as may be negotiated between PPC or Reorganized PPC and CoBank.

4.4. *Classes 4(a)–(g): Secured Tax Claims against the Debtors.*

(a) Impairment and Voting. Classes 4(a) through (g) are unimpaired by the Plan. Each holder of an Allowed Secured Tax Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Distributions. Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Secured Tax Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, each such holder shall receive, in full satisfaction of such Claim, (A) at the sole option of the Reorganized Debtors, either (a) Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Secured Tax Claim, including any interest on such Allowed Secured Tax Claim required to be paid pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code, on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of (i) the Effective Date, and (ii) the date such Secured Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Secured Tax Claim, (b) equal semi-annual Cash payments with interests at the applicable non-bankruptcy rate in an aggregate amount equal to such Allowed Secured Tax Claim, ~~together with interest at the applicable non-bankruptcy rate, including any interest on such Allowed Secured Tax Claim required to be paid pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code, with payments~~ commencing upon the later of the Effective Date and the date such Secured Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Secured Tax Claim, or as soon thereafter as is practicable and continuing over a period ending no later than five (5) years after the Commencement Date, or (c) such other treatment as shall be determined by the Bankruptcy Court to provide the holder of such Allowed Secured Tax Claim deferred Cash payments having a value, as of the Effective Date, equal to such Allowed Secured Tax Claim, or (B) such other distribution as necessary to satisfy the requirements of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

4.5. *Classes 5(a)–(g): Other Secured Claims against the Debtors.*

(a) Impairment and Voting. Classes 5(a) through (g) are unimpaired by the Plan. Each holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Distributions. Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, at the sole option of the relevant Reorganized Debtor, (i) each Allowed Other Secured Claim shall be reinstated and rendered unimpaired in accordance with section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code, notwithstanding any contractual provision or applicable nonbankruptcy law that entitles the holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim to demand or receive payment of such Claim prior to the stated maturity of such Claim from and after the occurrence of a default, or (ii) each holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim shall receive, in full satisfaction of such Allowed Other Secured Claim, either (a) Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Other Secured Claim, including any

interest on such Allowed Other Secured Claim required to be paid pursuant to ~~section 506(b) of~~ the Bankruptcy Code, (b) the proceeds of the sale or disposition of the Collateral securing such Allowed Other Secured Claim to the extent of the value of the holder's interest in such Collateral, (c) the Collateral securing such Allowed Other Secured Claim and any interest on such Allowed Other Secured Claim required to be paid pursuant to ~~section 506(b) of~~ the Bankruptcy Code, or (d) such other distribution as necessary to satisfy the requirements of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code. In the event the Debtors (in consultation with the Plan Sponsor) or Reorganized Debtors elect to treat a Claim under clause (a) or (b) of this Section, the Liens securing such Other Secured Claim shall be deemed released without the need for any further action by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors.

4.6. ***Classes 6(a)–(c): Note Claims against PPC.***

(a) Impairment and Voting. Classes 7(a) through (c) are unimpaired by the Plan. Each holder of an Allowed Note Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Distributions. Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Note Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, such holder of an Allowed Note Claim shall receive as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of the Effective Date and the date the Note Claim becomes Allowed (i) Cash in an amount equal to ~~(i)~~ the principal amount of such Allowed Note Claim plus ~~(ii)~~ accrued and unpaid postpetition interest at the non-default, contract rate as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of (a) the Effective Date, and (b) the date the Note Claim becomes Allowed, or (ii) such other distribution as necessary to satisfy the requirements of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code. Nothing in the Plan is intended to disturb the provisions of section 510(a) of the Bankruptcy Code or the subordination provisions in applicable agreements.

4.7. ***Classes 7(a)–(g): General Unsecured Claims against the Debtors.***

(a) Impairment and Voting. Classes 8(a) through (g) are unimpaired by the Plan. Each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Distributions. Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, each holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim shall receive, in full satisfaction of such Claim, Cash equal to (i) the full amount of such Allowed General Unsecured Claim plus (ii) postpetition interest on such Allowed General Unsecured Claim from the Commencement Date through the Effective Date at either the federal judgment rate as of the date of entry of the Confirmation Order, the contract rate, or the post-judgment rate, as applicable, or such other rate as determined by the Bankruptcy Court to be necessary to satisfy the requirements of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code, on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of (a) the Effective Date, and (b) the date the General Unsecured Claim becomes Allowed; provided, however, that if a holder of a General Unsecured Claim believes that it is entitled to contract rate interest, it must have attached the relevant contract to its Proof of Claim.

4.8. ***Class 8: Intercompany Claims.***

(a) Impairment and Voting. Class 8 is unimpaired by the Plan. Each holder of an Intercompany Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Distributions. Except to the extent that a holder of an Intercompany Claim accepts less favorable treatment, each Intercompany Claim shall be reinstated and carried forward for

financial reporting and tax purposes, as may be further determined by the Debtors in consultation with the Debtors' auditors and tax accountants.

4.9. ***Classes 9(a)–(g): Flow-Through Claims against the Debtors.***

(a) Impairment and Voting. Classes 9(a) through (g) are unimpaired by the Plan. Each holder of a Flow-Through Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Distributions. The legal, equitable, and contractual rights of each holder of a Flow-Through Claim, if any, shall be unaltered by the Plan and shall be satisfied in the ordinary course of business at such time and in such manner as the applicable Reorganized Debtor is obligated to satisfy each Flow-Through Claim (subject to the preservation and flow-through of all Avoidance Actions and defenses with respect thereto, which shall be fully preserved). The Debtors' failure to object to a Flow-Through Claim in their Chapter 11 Cases shall be without prejudice to the Reorganized Debtors' right to contest or otherwise object to the merits or classification of such Claim in Bankruptcy Court or outside the Bankruptcy Court.

4.10. ***Class 10(a): Equity Interests in PPC.***

(a) Impairment and Voting. Class 10(a) is impaired by the Plan. Each holder of an Allowed Equity Interest in Class 11(a) is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Distributions.

(i) On and as of the Effective Date, each share of PPC Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Date (other than any shares to be cancelled pursuant to Section 4.10(b)(iii)) (the "Existing Shares") shall be cancelled and converted automatically into the right to receive a number of fully paid and nonassessable shares of New PPC Common Stock equal to the Share Conversion Factor.

(ii) For purposes of this Plan, "Share Conversion Factor" means the number determined by application of the following formula:

SCF	=	$(0.36 \times \text{NNS}) / \text{NES}$
-----	---	---

where:

NNS	=	The number of shares necessary to cause SCF to be 1, or such other number of shares agreed in writing by the parties.
NES	=	The total number of Existing Shares
SCF	=	Share Conversion Factor

(iii) Each share of PPC Common Stock held in the treasury of PPC or any subsidiary thereof immediately prior to the Effective Date and each share of restricted stock of PPC as to which any conditions to vesting shall not have lapsed or shall not have been satisfied at or immediately prior to the Effective Date shall be canceled without any conversion thereof and no distribution shall be made with respect thereto.

4.11. *Classes 10(b)–(g): Equity Interests in the Debtors (Other than PPC).*

(a) Impairment and Voting. Classes 10(b) through (g) are unimpaired by the Plan. Each holder of an Allowed Equity Interest in Classes 10(b) through (g) is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan and is not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Distributions. The Equity Interests in Classes 12(b) through (g) shall be reinstated in their entirety pursuant to the Plan.

ARTICLE V

MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION

5.1. *Operations Between the Confirmation Date and the Effective Date.*

During the period from the Confirmation Date through and until the Effective Date, the Debtors shall continue to operate their businesses as Debtors in Possession, subject to the oversight of the Bankruptcy Court as provided in the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules and all orders of the Bankruptcy Court that are then in full force and effect, and in accordance with the terms of the SPA.

5.2. *Corporate Action.*

The entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute authorization for the Reorganized Debtors to take or cause to be taken all corporate actions necessary or appropriate to implement all provisions of, and to consummate, the Plan and the Plan Documents prior to, on and after the Effective Date and all such actions taken or caused to be taken shall be deemed to have been authorized and approved by the Bankruptcy Court without further approval, act or action under any applicable law, order, rule or regulation, including, without limitation, any action required by the stockholders or directors of the Reorganized Debtors, including, among other things, (a) the adoption of the Reorganized Debtor Constituent Documents, including the Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws, (b) the termination and cancellation of any outstanding instrument, document or agreement evidencing the Note Claims or Equity Interests in PPC, (c) issuance of any New PPC Common Stock, (d) the execution and delivery of all documents arising in connection with the Exit Financing and the SPA and performance of the Reorganized Debtors' obligations thereunder, (e) approval of the New Employee Incentive Plans, (f) all transfers of assets that are to occur pursuant to the Plan, (g) the incurrence of all obligations contemplated by the Plan and the making of all distributions under the Plan, (h) the implementation of all settlements and compromises as set forth in or contemplated by the Plan, (i) taking of all actions to preserve and provide for the prosecution of the Avoidance Actions as contemplated by sections 10.10 and 10.11 hereof and of all other causes of action, and (j) entering into any and all transactions, contracts, or arrangements permitted by applicable law, order, rule or regulation. The officers of the Debtors are authorized and directed to do all things and to execute and deliver all agreements, documents, instruments, notices and certificates as are contemplated by the Plan and the Plan Documents and to take all necessary action required in connection therewith, in the name of and on behalf of the Debtors.

5.3. *Continued Corporate Existence of the Debtors.*

Each of the Debtors shall continue to exist after the Effective Date as a separate entity, with all the powers available to such legal entity, in accordance with applicable law and pursuant to the Reorganized Debtor Constituent Documents, which shall become effective upon the occurrence of the Effective Date. On or after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may, in their sole discretion, take

such action as permitted by applicable law, their respective constituent documents and the Stockholders Agreement, as they determine is reasonable and appropriate, including (a) causing any or all of the Reorganized Debtors to be merged into one or more of the other Reorganized Debtors or other legal entities, and (b) changing the legal name of any one or more of the Reorganized Debtors.

5.4. *Cancellation and Surrender of Existing Securities and Agreements.*

(a) Except (i) as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan, (ii) with respect to executory contracts or unexpired leases that have been assumed by the Debtors, (iii) for purposes of evidencing a right to distributions under the Plan, or (iv) with respect to any Claim that is reinstated and rendered unimpaired under the Plan, on the Effective Date, any document, agreement, or debt instrument evidencing any Claim, including without limitation, the Prepetition BMO Credit Agreement, the Prepetition CoBank Credit Agreement, the DIP Credit Agreement, the Indentures and all Notes issued thereunder, and the PPC Common Stock, shall be deemed automatically cancelled without further act or action under any applicable agreement, law, regulation, order or rule and the obligations of the Debtors thereunder shall be discharged.

(b) Unless waived by PPC or Reorganized PPC, each holder of the Notes shall surrender such Note(s) to the applicable Indenture Trustees, or in the event such Note(s) are held in the name of, or by a nominee of, the Depository Trust Company, the Debtors shall follow the applicable procedures of the Depository Trust Company for book-entry transfer of the Note(s) to the applicable Indenture Trustees. No distributions hereunder shall be made for or on behalf of any such holder with respect to any Note unless and until such Note is received by the applicable Indenture Trustee or appropriate instructions from Depository Trust Company shall be received by the applicable Indenture Trustee, or the loss, theft or destruction of such Note is established to the reasonable satisfaction of the applicable Indenture Trustee, which satisfaction may require such holder to (i) submit a lost instrument affidavit and an indemnity bond and (ii) hold the Debtors and the applicable Indenture Trustee harmless in respect of such Note and any distributions made in respect thereof. Upon compliance with this section by a holder of any Note, such holder shall, for all purposes under this Plan, be deemed to have surrendered such Note. Any holder of Notes that fails to surrender such Note or satisfactorily explain its non-availability to the applicable Indenture Trustee within one (1) year of the Effective Date shall be deemed to have no further Claim against the Debtors, or their property or against the applicable Indenture Trustee in respect of such Claim and shall not participate in any distribution hereunder, and the distribution that would have otherwise been made to such holder shall be returned to Reorganized PPC by the applicable Indenture Trustee.

5.5. *Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Restated Bylaws.*

On the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, PPC will file the Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and will adopt the Restated Bylaws, each substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, as each may be amended prior to the Confirmation Date with the consent of the Plan Sponsor. The Restated Certificate of Incorporation will, among other things, authorize issuance of New PPC Common Stock (which will be subject to the Mandatory Exchange Transaction). PPC is hereby authorized to file the Restated Certificate of Incorporation and adopt the Restated Bylaws without the need for any further corporate action or further order of the Bankruptcy Court and without any further action by holders of Claims or Equity Interests.

5.6. *Stock Purchase Agreement.*

Pursuant and subject to the terms and conditions of the SPA, the Plan Sponsor will purchase 64% of the New PPC Common Stock in exchange for a cash contribution of \$800 million. Cash

proceeds from the Plan Sponsor's participation in the Plan will be utilized by the Debtors and Reorganized Debtors to make Cash distributions to the holders of Allowed Claims against the Debtors and to satisfy general working capital requirements of the Reorganized Debtors on and after the Effective Date. The Debtors' entry into the SPA, and the terms thereof (to the extent not already approved by the Bankruptcy Court), are hereby authorized and approved without the need for any further corporate action or further order of the Bankruptcy Court and without any further action by holders of Claims and Equity Interests. A copy of the SPA is attached as Exhibit B to the Plan.

5.7. *Exit Financing.*

On or about the Effective Date, Reorganized PPC, Reorganized To-Ricos and Reorganized To-Ricos Distribution, as borrowers, shall enter into the Exit Facility pursuant to the Exit Facility Documents and shall incur indebtedness thereunder in an amount not less than \$1,650,000,000, the proceeds of which shall be available, among other things, for use by the Reorganized Debtors to make distributions under the Plan to the holders of Allowed Claims against the Debtors and to satisfy general working capital requirements of the Reorganized Debtors on and after the Effective Date. The Reorganized Debtors' entry into the Exit Facility pursuant to the Exit Facility Documents and the incurrence of the indebtedness thereunder on or as soon as reasonably practicable following the Effective Date are hereby authorized without the need for any further corporate action or further order of the Bankruptcy Court and without any further action by holders of Claims or Equity Interests. The material terms of the Exit Facility are set forth in more detail on Exhibit A to be included in the Plan Supplement. The Debtors shall consult with the Plan Sponsor on any amendments or modifications to the material terms of the Exit Facility set forth on Exhibit A.

5.8. *Issuance of New PPC Common Stock.*

The issuance by Reorganized PPC of New PPC Common Stock on or as soon as reasonably practicable following the Effective Date is hereby authorized without the need for any further corporate action or further order of the Bankruptcy Court and without any further action by holders of Claims or Equity Interests. Newly-issued shares of New PPC Common Stock, which shall be subject to the Mandatory Exchange Transaction, will be distributed to holders of Allowed Equity Interests in PPC pursuant to ~~section~~Section 4.10 of the Plan and purchased by the Plan Sponsor pursuant to the SPA.

5.9. *Effectuating Documents and Further Transactions.*

On and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors and the board and the officers of Reorganized PPC are authorized to and may issue, execute, deliver, file, or record such contracts, securities, instruments, releases, and other agreements or documents and take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate, implement, and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan and the securities issued pursuant to the Plan in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtors, without the need for any approvals, authorizations or consents except for those expressly required pursuant to the Plan.

5.10. *Exemption from Securities Laws.*

To the maximum extent provided by section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code and applicable non-bankruptcy law, the offer and ~~issuance~~sale under the Plan of New PPC Common Stock, and the offer and ~~issuance~~sale under the Plan of equity interests in the Plan Sponsor ~~in order pursuant to effectuate~~ the Mandatory Exchange Transaction, will be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and under applicable state securities laws. The issuance of New PPC Common Stock shall be exempt from the requirements of section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (pursuant to Rule 16b-3

promulgated thereunder) with respect to any acquisition of such securities or pecuniary interest therein by an officer or director as of the Effective Date.

ARTICLE VI

VOTING AND DISTRIBUTIONS

6.1. *Voting of Equity Interests.*

Each holder of an Allowed Equity Interest in PPC, which is the only impaired Class that is entitled to vote on the Plan pursuant to Article III of the Plan, shall be entitled to vote ~~separately~~ to accept or reject the Plan, as provided in such order as is entered by the Bankruptcy Court establishing procedures with respect to the solicitation and tabulation of votes to accept or reject the Plan, or any other order or orders of the Bankruptcy Court.

6.2. *Nonconsensual Confirmation.*

If Class 10(a) (Equity Interests in PPC) shall not accept the Plan by the requisite statutory majority provided in section 1126(d) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors reserve the right to undertake to have the Bankruptcy Court confirm the Plan under section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

6.3. *Distribution Record Date.*

On the Distribution Record Date (i) the claims register shall be closed and any transfer of any Claim therein shall be prohibited and (ii) the stock transfer ledger or similar register of the Debtors shall be closed. The Disbursing Agent shall instead be authorized and entitled to recognize and deal for all purposes under the Plan with only those record holders stated on the claims register and the stock transfer ledger as of the close of business on the Distribution Record Date. The record date for distributions shall be the Distribution Record Date.

6.4. *Date of Distributions.*

Distributions shall be made on the date specified in Article IV with respect to each Allowed Claim or Allowed Equity Interest. In the event that any payment or act under the Plan is required to be made or performed on a date that is not a Business Day, then the making of such payment or the performance of such act may be completed on the next succeeding Business Day, but shall be deemed to have been completed as of the required date.

6.5. *Disbursing Agent.*

All distributions under the Plan (other than with respect to the Allowed Note Claims, Allowed BMO Secured Claims and the DIP Claims) shall be made by Reorganized PPC as the Disbursing Agent or such other Entity designated by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors as a Disbursing Agent for certain or all such distributions. The applicable Indenture Trustee, or such other entity designated by PPC or the Reorganized PPC, shall be the Disbursing Agent for the Notes. BMO shall be the Disbursing Agent for the Allowed BMO Secured Claims and the DIP Claims. The Disbursing Agent shall not be required to give any bond or surety or other security for the performance of its duties unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court and, in the event that a Disbursing Agent is so otherwise ordered, all costs and expenses of procuring any such bond or surety shall be borne by the Reorganized Debtors.

6.6. ***Rights and Powers of Disbursing Agent.***

The Disbursing Agent shall be empowered to (a) effect all actions and execute all agreements, instruments and other documents necessary to perform its duties under the Plan, (b) make all distributions contemplated hereby, and (c) exercise such other powers as may be vested in the Disbursing Agent by order of the Bankruptcy Court, pursuant to the Plan or as deemed by the Disbursing Agent to be necessary and proper to implement the provisions hereof.

6.7. ***Expenses of the Disbursing Agent.***

Except as otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, any reasonable fees and expenses incurred by the Disbursing Agent on or after the Effective Date shall be paid in Cash by the Reorganized Debtors in the ordinary course of business.

6.8. ***Delivery of Distributions.***

(a) General. Subject to Bankruptcy Rule 9010, all distributions to a holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Equity Interest shall be made to the address of the holder thereof as set forth (i) on such holder's Proof of Claim, or if no Proof of Claim has been filed, (ii) on the Schedules filed with the Bankruptcy Court, ~~(iii)~~ on the books and records of the Debtors or their agents, or ~~(iii)~~ iv in a letter of transmittal by such ~~holders~~ holder, unless the Debtors have been notified in writing of a change of address; ~~including, without limitation, by the filing of a Proof of Claim by such holder that contains an address for such holder different from the address reflected on the foregoing listed documents.~~

(b) Distributions to holders of Allowed Note Claims. Reorganized PPC shall deliver all distributions in respect of Allowed Note Claims to the applicable Indenture Trustee or such other entity or entities designated by the ~~Debtors as the Disbursing Agent under the Notes~~ applicable Indenture Trustee. Upon delivery of the foregoing distributions to the applicable Indenture Trustee or such designee(s), Reorganized PPC shall be released of all liability with respect to the delivery of such distributions. The applicable Indenture Trustee or such designee(s) shall transmit the distributions to the holders of the Allowed Note Claims. Reorganized PPC shall provide whatever reasonable assistance may be required by the applicable Indenture Trustee or such designee(s) with respect to such distributions.

(c) Distributions to holders of Allowed BMO Secured Claims and DIP Claims. BMO will deliver all distributions in respect of Allowed BMO Secured Claims and DIP Claims pursuant to the terms of the relevant credit agreement to those lenders who are lenders under the terms of the relevant credit agreements as of the date of distributions to BMO on account of the Allowed BMO Secured Claims and DIP Claims.

(d) Withholding and Reporting Requirements. In connection with the Plan and all instruments issued in connection therewith and distributed thereon, any party issuing any instrument or making any distribution under the Plan, including any party described in Section 6.5 above, shall comply with all applicable withholding and reporting requirements imposed by any federal, state or local taxing authority, and all distributions under the Plan shall be subject to any such withholding or reporting requirements. Notwithstanding the above, each holder of an Allowed Claim that is to receive a distribution under the Plan shall have the sole and exclusive responsibility for the satisfaction and payment of any tax obligations imposed by any ~~governmental unit~~ Governmental Unit, including income, withholding and other tax obligations, on account of such distribution. Any party issuing any instrument or making any distribution under the Plan has the right, but not the obligation, to not make a distribution until such holder has made arrangements satisfactory to such issuing or disbursing party for payment of any such tax obligations.

6.9. ***Unclaimed Distributions.***

In the event that any distribution to any holder is returned as undeliverable, the Reorganized Debtors shall use reasonable efforts to determine the current address of such holder, but no distribution to such holder shall be made unless and until the Reorganized Debtors have determined the then-current address of such holder, at which time such distribution shall be made to such holder without interest from the original distribution date through the new distribution date; provided that such distributions shall be deemed unclaimed property under section 347(b) of the Bankruptcy Code at the expiration of one year from the Effective Date. After such date, all unclaimed property or interest in property (including any stock) shall revert to the applicable Reorganized Debtor, and the Claim of any other Entity to such property or interest in property shall be discharged and forever barred.

6.10. ***Manner of Payment.***

At the option of the Disbursing Agent, any Cash payment to be made hereunder may be made by a check or wire transfer or as otherwise required or provided in applicable agreements.

6.11. ***Fractional Shares.***

No fractional shares of New PPC Common Stock shall be distributed under the Plan. When any distribution pursuant to the Plan on account of an Allowed Equity Interest would otherwise result in the issuance of a number of shares of New PPC Common Stock that is not a whole number, the actual distribution of shares of New PPC Common Stock shall be rounded as follows: (i) fractions of one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) or greater shall be rounded to the next higher whole number and (ii) fractions of less than one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) shall be rounded to the next lower whole number with no further payment or other distribution therefor. The total number of authorized shares of New PPC Common Stock to be distributed to holders of Allowed Equity Interests shall be adjusted as necessary to account for the rounding provided in this Section 6.11.

6.12. ***Minimum Cash Distributions.***

Notwithstanding anything set forth herein to the contrary, no payment of Cash less than \$25 shall be made to any holder of an Allowed Claim unless a request therefor is made in writing to the Disbursing Agent. If no request is made as provided in the preceding sentence within sixty (60) days of the Effective Date, such Cash shall revert to the applicable Reorganized Debtor.

6.13. ***Setoffs and Recoupment.***

Other than with respect to Allowed BMO Secured Claims, the Debtors may, but shall not be required to, set off or recoup against any Claim (for purposes of determining the Allowed amount of such Claim on which distribution shall be made) any Claims of any nature whatsoever that the Debtors may have against the holder of such Claim, but neither the failure to do so nor the allowance of any Claim hereunder shall constitute a waiver or release by the Debtors of any such Claim the Debtors may have against the holder of such Claim.

ARTICLE VII

PROCEDURES FOR DISPUTED CLAIMS

7.1. *Objections / Objection Deadline.*

(a) Objections to all Claims against the Debtors may be interposed and prosecuted only by the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors (except for Claims asserted under sections 330, 331, 503(b)(2), 503(b)(3), 503(b)(4) and 503(b)(5), in which case the Committees may also interpose and prosecute objections). Prior to the Effective Date, except for objections that in the reasonable determination of the Debtors need to be filed on an emergency basis, the Debtors shall provide three (3) calendar days prior notice to the Plan Sponsor of their intent to file an objection to Claims and if timely requested by the Plan Sponsor, shall work with the Plan Sponsor in interposing such an objection.

(b) The Reorganized Debtors shall be entitled to object to any Claim through and after the Effective Date. Any objections to Claims shall be served and filed with the Bankruptcy Court on or before the later of (i) one hundred and fifty (150) days after the Effective Date, as such time may be extended by order of the Bankruptcy Court and (ii) such later date as may be fixed by the Bankruptcy Court, whether fixed before or after the date specified in clause (i) above.

7.2. *No Payment Pending Allowance.*

Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan, if any portion of a Claim is disputed, then no payment or distribution provided hereunder shall be made on account of any portion of such Claim unless and until such Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim: provided, however, that in the event the dispute regarding payment of postpetition interest at the default rate with respect to the Note Claims is not resolved prior to the Effective Date, the Debtors will pay the undisputed portion of the Note Claims to the applicable Indenture Trustee as soon as reasonably practical after the later of the Effective Date or the date when the applicable Indenture Trustee and the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, reach an agreement as to the undisputed amount of the Note Claims, and the remaining amounts, if any, shall be paid when they are allowed by order of the Bankruptcy Court or when agreement is reached settling any dispute relating to such amounts.

7.3. *Distributions After Allowance.*

To the extent that a Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim, the Disbursing Agent shall distribute to the holder of such Claim the property distributable with respect to such Claim in accordance with Article IV of the Plan. Such distributions shall be made as soon as practicable after the later of (i) the date that the order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court allowing such Disputed Claim (or portion thereof) becomes a Final Order, (ii) the date on which any objection to such Disputed Claim has been withdrawn, or (iii) the date on which such Disputed Claim has been settled, compromised or otherwise resolved. To the extent that all or a portion of a Disputed Claim is disallowed, the holder of such Claim shall not receive any distribution on account of the portion of such Claim that is disallowed and any property withheld, if any, pending the resolution of such Claim shall revert in the applicable Reorganized Debtor.

7.4. *Resolution of Disputed Claims.*

Notwithstanding any prior order of the Bankruptcy Court, on and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall have the authority to compromise, settle, otherwise resolve, or withdraw any objections to Disputed Claims and to compromise, settle, or otherwise resolve any Disputed Claims

without approval of the Bankruptcy Court, other than with respect to Administrative Expense Claims relating to compensation of professionals.

7.5. Estimation of Claims.

Requests for estimation of any Claim against the Debtors may be interposed and prosecuted only by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors. Prior to the Effective Date, except for estimation requests that in the reasonable determination of the Debtors need to be made on an emergency basis, the Debtors shall provide three (3) calendar days prior notice to the Plan Sponsor of their intent to request estimation of any Claim and if timely requested by the Plan Sponsor, shall work with the Plan Sponsor in interposing such a request. The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors may at any time request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate any Contingent Claim, Unliquidated Claim, or Disputed Claim pursuant to section 502(c) of the Bankruptcy Code regardless of whether any of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors previously objected to such Claim or whether the Bankruptcy Court has ruled on any such objection, and the Bankruptcy Court will retain jurisdiction to estimate any Claim at any time during litigation concerning any objection to any Claim, including, without limitation, during the pendency of any appeal relating to any such objection; provided, however, that the Bankruptcy Court shall not have jurisdiction to estimate a Claim with respect to which a reference has been withdrawn. In the event that the Bankruptcy Court estimates any Contingent Claim, Unliquidated Claim, or Disputed Claim, the amount so estimated shall constitute either the Allowed amount of such Claim or a maximum limitation on such Claim, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court. If the estimated amount constitutes a maximum limitation on the amount of such Claim, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors may pursue supplementary proceedings to object to the allowance of such Claim. The objection, estimation and resolution procedures set forth in Article VII of the Plan are intended to be cumulative and not exclusive of one another. Claims may be estimated and subsequently compromised, settled, withdrawn, or resolved by any mechanism approved by the Bankruptcy Court.

7.6. No Interest Pending Allowance.

~~To~~Unless necessary to satisfy the requirements of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code,
to the extent that a Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim after the Effective Date, the holder of such Claim shall not be entitled to any interest thereon from the Effective Date to the date such Claim becomes Allowed.

ARTICLE VIII

TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

8.1. Assumption or Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases.

Pursuant to sections 365(a) and 1123(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, all executory contracts and unexpired leases that exist between the Debtors and any person or entity shall be deemed rejected by the Debtors as of the Effective Date, except for any executory contract or unexpired lease (i) that has been assumed, assumed and assigned, or rejected pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court entered on or before the Effective Date, (ii) as to which a motion for approval of the assumption, assumption and assignment, or rejection has been filed and served prior to the Confirmation Date, (iii) that is specifically designated as a contract or lease to be assumed or assumed and assigned on Schedule 8.1, which Schedule shall be contained in the Plan Supplement and shall be prepared in accordance with Section 5.02(b) of the SPA, or (iv) that is designated as assumed pursuant to sections 8.6 through 8.9 of this Plan; provided, however, that the Debtors reserve the right, in consultation with the Plan Sponsor, as provided in Section 5.02(c) of the SPA, on or prior to the Confirmation Date, to amend Schedule 8.1 to delete therefrom or add thereto any executory contract or unexpired lease, in which event such executory

contract(s) or unexpired lease(s) shall be deemed to be, respectively, either rejected or assumed (or assumed and assigned) as of the Effective Date. The Debtors shall provide notice of any amendments to Schedule 8.1 to the parties to the executory contracts and unexpired leases affected thereby. The listing of a document on Schedule 8.1 shall not constitute an admission by the Debtors that such document is an executory contract or an unexpired lease or that the Debtors have any liability thereunder.

8.2. *Approval of Assumption, Assumption and Assignment, or Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases.*

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall, subject to and upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, constitute (i) the approval, pursuant to sections 365(a) and 1123(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, of the assumption, or the assumption and assignment, as applicable, of the executory contracts and unexpired leases listed on Schedule 8.1 or assumed pursuant to sections 8.6 through 8.9 of this Plan, and (ii) the approval, pursuant to sections 365(a) and 1123(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, of the rejection of the executory contracts and unexpired leases rejected pursuant to Section 8.1 of the Plan.

8.3. *Inclusiveness.*

Unless otherwise specified on Schedule 8.1, each executory contract and unexpired lease listed or to be listed on Schedule 8.1 shall include any and all modifications, amendments, supplements, restatements, or other agreements made directly or indirectly by any agreement, instrument, or other document that in any manner affects such executory contract or unexpired lease, without regard to whether such agreement, instrument or other document is listed on Schedule 8.1.

8.4. *Cure of Defaults.*

(a) Except to the extent that different treatment has been agreed to by the non-debtor party or parties to any executory contract or unexpired lease that is being assumed under the Plan, the Debtors shall, pursuant to the provisions of sections 1123(a)(5)(G) and 1123(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code and consistent with the requirements of section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, at least 20 days prior to the Confirmation Hearing, file with the Bankruptcy Court and serve by first class mail on each non-debtor party to such executory contracts or unexpired leases, a notice (the "Assumption Notice"), which shall list the cure amount as to each executory contract or unexpired lease to be assumed or assumed and assigned; provided, however, that if the Debtors, in consultation with the Plan Sponsor, subsequently amend Schedule 8.1 or any other list of assumed executory contracts and unexpired leases prior to the Confirmation Hearing to add new executory contracts or unexpired leases or to unilaterally amend any cure amounts listed on the original Assumption Notice, the Debtors shall as soon as practicable after such amendment mail each non-debtor party to each such executory contract or unexpired lease a supplemental notice (each, a "Supplemental Assumption Notice"), which shall list the cure amount as to each executory contract or unexpired lease to be assumed or assumed and assigned. The parties to such executory contracts or unexpired leases to be assumed or assumed and assigned by the Debtors shall have ten (10) days from the date of service of the Assumption Notice or Supplemental Assumption Notice, as applicable, to file and serve any objection to either the cure amounts listed by the Debtors or the assumption or assumption and assignment of such contract or lease. If there are any objections filed, the Bankruptcy Court may either schedule such objection to be heard at the Confirmation Hearing or at a later hearing on a date to be set by the Bankruptcy Court. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, the Debtors, in consultation with the Plan Sponsor, shall retain their rights to reject any of their executory contracts or unexpired leases that are subject to a dispute concerning amounts necessary to cure any defaults through the Effective Date.

(b) To the extent any non-Debtor party to an executory contract or an unexpired lease files an objection to the Debtors' proposed cure amounts and the alleged cure amount exceeds

\$300,000, the Debtors shall provide notice thereof to the Plan Sponsor as provided in Section 5.02(d) of the SPA.

(c) Except as may otherwise be agreed to by the counterparty to the executory contract or unexpired lease, ~~within thirty (30) days~~ as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall pay all undisputed cure amounts. All disputed defaults that are required to be cured shall be cured either within thirty (30) days of the entry of a Final Order determining the amount, if any, of the Debtors' liability with respect to such cure amount, or as may otherwise be agreed to with the counterparty to such executory contract or unexpired lease.

8.5. *Bar Date for Filing Proofs of Claim Relating to Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases Rejected Pursuant to the Plan.*

In the event that the rejection of an executory contract or unexpired lease by the Debtors pursuant to the Plan results in damages to the other party or parties to such contract or lease, a Claim for such damages, if not heretofore evidenced by a timely filed Proof of Claim, shall be forever barred and shall not be enforceable against the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, or their properties or interests in property as agents, successors, or assigns, unless a Proof of Claim is filed with the Claims Agent and served upon the attorneys for the Debtors on or before the thirtieth (30th) day after the later of (i) the date of service of notice of the Effective Date, or (ii) the date of service of notice of such later rejection date that occurs as a result of a dispute concerning amounts necessary to cure any defaults (solely with respect to the party directly affected by such modification).

8.6. *Indemnification Obligations.*

Subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date, the obligations of the Debtors as of the Commencement Date to indemnify, defend, reimburse or limit the liability of directors, officers or employees who are directors, officers or employees of the Debtors on or before the Effective Date against any claims or causes of action, as provided in the Debtors' certificates of incorporation, bylaws, other organizational documents or applicable law, shall be assumed by the Debtors on the Effective Date with the same effect as though such obligations constituted executory contracts that are assumed under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, and all such obligations shall survive confirmation of the Plan, remain unaffected thereby and not be discharged, irrespective of whether such indemnification, defense, reimbursement or limitation is owed in connection with an event occurring before or after the Commencement Date. The prosecution of any indemnified cause of action against the Debtors or any non-debtor shall upon the Effective Date be enjoined and prohibited, except solely for the purpose of obtaining a recovery from any available insurance policy proceeds. This Plan is intended to effect the assumption of the indemnification obligations of the Debtors as provided in the Debtors' certificates of incorporation, bylaws, other organizational documents and applicable law, and this Plan shall not, in and of itself, be deemed to create any new indemnification obligations on the part of the Debtors to directors, officers or employees of the Debtors who were directors, officers or employees of the Debtors on or before the Effective Date.

8.7. *Insurance Policies.*

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan to the contrary, unless specifically listed on Schedule 8.7 as being rejected or specifically rejected by order of the Bankruptcy Court, or unless subject to a motion for approval of rejection that has been filed and served prior to the Confirmation Date, all of the Debtors' insurance policies and any agreements, documents or instruments relating thereto (collectively, the "Insurance Policy Documents"), are treated as executory contracts under the Plan and will be assumed pursuant to the Plan, effective as of the Effective Date. Nothing contained in this section 8.7 shall constitute or be deemed a waiver of any cause of action that the Debtors may hold against any

entity, including, without limitation, the insurer, under any of the Debtors' insurance policies. Nothing in the Disclosure Statement, the Plan, the Confirmation Order, any exhibit to the Plan or any other Plan document (including any provision that purports to be preemptory or supervening), shall in any way operate to, or have the effect of, impairing in any respect the legal, equitable or contractual rights and defenses, if any, of the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors or any insurer with respect to any Insurance Policy Documents (except with respect to those set forth on Schedule 8.7). The rights and obligations of the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and insurers shall be determined under the Insurance Policy Documents and under applicable non-bankruptcy law. The transfer herein of the Insurance Policy Documents by the Debtors to the Reorganized Debtors will not enlarge the pre-petition rights of the Reorganized Debtors thereunder, and such transfer is subject to all pre-petition rights and defenses available to the insurers thereunder. Regardless of whether the Insurance Policy Documents are executory, the Reorganized Debtors will perform the Debtors' obligations thereunder, including any that remain unperformed as of the Effective Date of the Plan.

8.8. Compensation and Benefit Programs.

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan to the contrary, unless specifically rejected by order of the Bankruptcy Court, or unless subject to a motion for approval of rejection that has been filed and served prior to the Confirmation Date, the Compensation and Benefit Programs shall be deemed to be, and shall be treated as though they are, executory contracts that are deemed assumed under the Plan on the same terms, and the Debtors' obligations under the Compensation and Benefit Programs shall be deemed assumed pursuant to section 365(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, shall survive confirmation of the Plan, shall remain unaffected thereby, and shall not be discharged in accordance with section 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code. Any default existing under the Compensation and Benefit Programs shall be cured promptly after it becomes known by the Reorganized Debtors.

8.9. Other Contracts to be Assumed.

Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, unless specifically listed on Schedule 8.9 as being rejected or specifically rejected by order of the Bankruptcy Court, or unless subject to a motion for approval of rejection that has been filed and served prior to the Confirmation Date, the following ~~types of Debtor~~ contracts shall be assumed under the Plan, provided that they are unexpired as of the Effective Date and have not been terminated pursuant to their terms prior to the Effective Date:

(a) The change in control agreements and severance agreements, including those that have been executed or amended during the Chapter 11 Cases;

(b) The employee agreements, as may have been executed or amended during the Chapter 11 Cases;

(c) Contracts with growers;

(d) Contracts with ~~catchers and haulers;~~ vendors for live operations using the Debtors' contract forms entitled "Independent Contractor Agreement," "Catching and Loading Agreement," and "Live Haul Agreement";

(e) Contracts with customers of one or more of the Debtors;

(f) Contracts with vendors ~~who have entered into a contract with one or more of~~ using the Debtors' contract forms entitled "Pilgrim's Pride Corporation Construction Agreement and General Conditions"; ~~and~~